IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DELPHI PACKARD ELECTRIC SYSTEMS	APPELLANT			
V.	NO. 2007-WC-00820			
EARNIL BROWN APPI				
ON APPEAL FROM THI CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DIST				
MISSISSIPPI	MCI OF HINDS COUNTY,			
·				
BRIEF OF APPELLANT	•			
DIGEF OF AFFELLANI	•			

Andrew D. Sweat (MSB No.
Jennifer H. Scott (MSB No.
WISE CARTER CHILD & CARAWAY
Professional Association
600 Heritage Building
401 East Capitol Street
Post Office Box 651
Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0651

Phone: (601) 968-5500 Facsimile: (601) 968-5593

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DELPHI PACKARD ELECTRIC SYSTEMS

EMPLOYER AND SELF-INSURED/APPELLANT

v.

NO. 2007-WC-00820

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Does substantial evidence support the Commission's determination that Claimant's alleged permanent disability resulted from the February 11, 1999 work incident?
- 2. Does substantial evidence support the Commission's determination that the treatment by Dr. Jones was medically necessary and causally connected to the February 11, 1999 injury?
- 3. Does substantial evidence support the Commission's determination that Claimant incurred a compensable mental injury as a result of the February 11, 1999 incident?
- 4. Does substantial evidence support the Commission's determination that Claimant proved he has incurred a permanent disability or loss of wage earning capacity?
- 5. Did the Commission err as a matter of law in determining that Claimant had proven his claim for permanent disability or loss of wage earning capacity despite his failure to prove that he made reasonable efforts to obtain other employment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings Below

On March 3, 2000, Claimant Earnil Brown filed a Petition to Controvert, alleging that he injured his neck, back, shoulders and right hand at work on February 11, 1999 when he fell on a wet floor while lifting overhead. (Vol. 2 at 1)¹ Employer/Self-Insured Delphi Packard Electric Systems ("Employer" or "Delphi") answered the Petition admitting Claimant had sustained a compensable injury but denying Claimant's injury occurred as set forth in the Petition. (Vol. 2 at 3-4) Delphi further denied that Claimant suffered any permanency or loss of wage earning capacity as a result of the work accident. (Vol. 2 at 3-4) Delphi also contested liability for the treatment by Dr. Kenneth Vogel as well as any award for penalties. (Vol. 2 at 3-4)

Claimant filed an Amended Petition to Controvert on November 29, 2001, one year and eight months after filing his original Petition to Controvert. (Vol. 2 at 106) In this Amended Petition to Controvert, Claimant first alleged that his work-related injury included mental and emotional distress. (Vol. 2 at 106) Delphi filed its Amended Answer on December 4, 2001, denying the compensability of Claimant's alleged mental injury. (Vol. 2 at 107-108)

Following discovery in this matter, Administrative Judge James Homer Best conducted a hearing in Jackson, Mississippi on March 10, 2003, as to the issues raised in the Petition to Controvert and the defenses asserted by Delphi. The parties stipulated that Claimant suffered compensable injuries to his cervical spine and to his lumbar spine on February 11, 1999 and that Claimant's average weekly wage on February 11, 2003 was \$931.20. (Vol. 3 at 4) The issues placed before Judge Best for adjudication were (1) the nature and extent of temporary disability;

¹Citations to the Record are made to volume and page number. Citations to the exhibits are made to the Exhibit number and page number where appropriate.

(2) the nature and extent of permanent disability; (3) loss of wage earning capacity, if any; (3) the reasonableness and necessity of certain medical services provided by Dr. Vogel; and (4) the reasonableness and necessity of all medical services provided by Dr. Jones. (Vol. 3 at 5-6)

On August 5, 2003, Judge Best rendered an order which (1) placed the Claimant at maximum medical improvement on May 2, 2000 for both the cervical injury and the lumbar injury; (2) found Claimant sustained a 5% permanent partial medical impairment rating for the cervical injury and no medical impairment for the lumbar injury; (3) denied any award to Claimant for permanent benefits for his lumbar or cervical injuries; (4) awarded temporary total disability benefits to Claimant for the period of September 1, 1999 through May 2, 2000, with credit for benefits previously paid; (5) denied Claimant's psychological claim and all costs associated with treatment rendered by Dr. Jones; (6) limited the Employer's liability for Dr. Kenneth Vogel's treatment to treatment rendered through March 10, 2001; and (7) denied benefits to Claimant for any loss of wage earning capacity. (Vol. 2 at 137-40) The Claimant appealed to the Full Commission on August 19, 2003. (Vol. 2 at 141)

The Full Commission heard the matter on January 12, 2004 and issued an Order reversing the Administrative Judge's decision on January 22, 2004. (Vol. 2 at 145) In the Order, the Full Commission made the following factual conclusions: (1) Claimant sustained compensable cervical and lumbar injuries which resulted from a lifting incident occurring at work in February 1999; (2) these injuries caused Claimant to suffer chronic pain syndrome which in turn led to depression and other psychiatric disorders; (3) Claimant reached maximum medical improvement from his psychiatric disorders on December 5, 2002; (4) Claimant would require continuing medical treatment as to both his physical and mental injuries. (Vol. 2 at 151) The Commission also found that Dr. Vogel assessed Claimant at maximum medical improvement on

January 11, 2000 and that Dr. Smith assessed Claimant at maximum medical improvement on May 1, 2000. (Vol. 2 at 147-48) In addition, the Commission concluded that Dr. Jones had "noted evidence of depression with psychotic behavior related to work issues." (Vol. 2 at 148)

The Full Commission ordered Delphi to pay permanent total disability benefits of \$292.86 per week for 450 weeks beginning September 1, 1999, less credit for benefits already paid, as well as past and future medical services and supplies reasonable and necessary to the treatment of Claimant's physical and mental injuries. (Vol. 2 at 154) On February 13, 2004, Delphi appealed the Full Commission's Order to the First Judicial District of the Circuit Court of Hinds County. (Vol. 2 at 155-57) On January 25, 2007, the Honorable Tomie Green, Circuit Court Judge, issued an opinion affirming the Full Commission's Order. (Vol. 1 at 22-23) Delphi thereafter timely appealed to this Court on February 23, 2007. (Vol. 1 at 24-26)

B. Statement of Relevant Facts

On February 11, 1999, Claimant allegedly injured his neck, low back, shoulders, and right hand at work when he lifted overhead a reel of terminals, weighing between seven and nine pounds. (Vol. 3 at 25-26; See Ex. 8 & Ex. 9) Claimant reported the accident to his supervisor, Jessie Adams.³ (Ex. 9; Vol. 3 at 12) Adams sent Claimant to Dr. Cronin, the company physician, who diagnosed Claimant with lumbar strain. Claimant returned to work after his examination by Dr. Cronin and continued to work through September 1, 1999. (Vol. 3 at 12-13)

²For example, the records of Dr. Jones document that Claimant "felt many times that people at the work place [were] against him" and that he was "ready to go over to Packard/Delphi [and] kill coworkers, esp[ecially] supervisors." (Ex. 3)

³The hearing transcript incorrectly identifies Claimant's supervisor as "Jessie Allen."

1. <u>Dr. Kenneth Vogel Did Not Causally Connect Claimant's Injury to His Work Until Almost Eighteen Months After Claimant Filed a Petition to Controvert.</u>

Dr. Kenneth Vogel, a neurosurgeon in New Orleans, Louisiana, had been treating

Claimant since 1983 for other neck and back conditions unrelated to the February 11, 1999
injury. (Vol. 3 at 23-24) In fact, Dr. Vogel had examined Claimant on January 25, 1999, less
than one month before the work injury at issue. (Ex. 5 at Ex. 3) During this visit, Claimant
reported cervical and bilateral shoulder pain, paresthesia of the left arm, and mild lumbrosacral
pain. (Ex. 5 at Ex. 3) Dr. Vogel also noted that Claimant had experienced a spontaneous

exacerbation of pain approximately three weeks earlier—i.e., in early January 1999. (Ex. 5 at Ex.
3) Dr. Vogel documented that Claimant had been following conservative care and that he had
experienced no intervening injuries. (Ex. 5 at Ex. 3) Claimant asked to continue conservative
care, and Dr. Vogel renewed Claimant's restrictions from November 6, 1998, without any
changes. (Ex. 5 at Ex. 3)

Claimant next treated with Dr. Vogel on March, 29, 1999–almost a month and half after his alleged work injury. (Ex. 1) Dr. Vogel indicated that Claimant's March 29, 1999 visit was a "re-evaluat[ion] . . . for cervical, interscapular and bilateral arm pain" and that Claimant had "lifted heavily ten days ago [March 19, 1999] with recurrent cervical pain." (Ex. 1) Dr. Vogel described Claimant's symptoms and problems as mild. (Ex. 1)

On September 21, 1999, Dr. Vogel recommended a cervical medial branch neurotomy.

(Ex. 1) This recommendation came after Claimant had completed a series of diagnostic tests that, according to Dr. Vogel, had revealed a herniated lumbar disc with symptomatic lumbar degenerative disc disease suspected. (Ex. 1) An October 21, 1999 radiology consultation report for a test performed on Claimant's cervical spine similarly indicated that Claimant's neural

foramina were patent but compromised more on the right than left secondary to uncovertebral joint *degenerative* change at the C5-6 and C6-7 levels. (Ex. 1) Notably, in recounting his impressions and recommendation on September 21, 1999, Dr. Vogel did not make any statements relating the Claimant's condition to a February 11, 1999 lifting incident. (Ex. 1)

On October 27, 1999, Dr. Vogel performed a cervical medial branch neurotomy at C3-4, C4-5, C5-6, C6-7, left. (Ex. 1) In the notes regarding Claimant's pre-operative history and physical examination, Dr. Vogel again made no statements relating Claimant's condition to any February 11, 1999 lifting incident. (Ex. 1) In fact, Dr. Vogel wholly failed to note any recent lifting incident at all, describing Claimant's "present illness" as follows:

he was initially injured 2/20/90, when he slipped and fell at work. He subsequently experienced both cervical and lumbosacral pain. In 11/95, he underwent a left cervical medial branch neurotomy. He experienced significant relief. He returned to gainful employment. He has subsequently experienced the spontaneous recurrence of cervical and bilateral arm pain, primarily on the left. He also has persistent mild lumbosacral pain.

The patient's past history reveals no intervening injury since his hospitalization of 1995.

(Ex. 1, emphasis added) As this record shows, Dr. Vogel viewed Claimant's condition as related to his prior cervical and lumbar problems rather than to any recently occurring trauma or injury.

Post-surgery, Claimant continued to complain of lumbosacral and left leg pain. (Ex. 1) At Claimant's six-week post-operative examination, Dr. Vogel again noted Claimant had "lifted heavily in March of 1999 and [had] experienced increased lumbosacral pain." (Ex. 1, emphasis added) This December 7, 1999 reference marked the first time since the March 29, 1999 letter that Dr. Vogel had referred to any accident or injury occurring after Claimant's fall at work in

1990. (Ex. 1) Because the reel Claimant allegedly lifted in February 1999 weighed only seven to nine pounds, it is not reasonable to interpret Dr. Vogel's note as referring to the injury at issue.

On January 11, 2000, in response to Claimant's continued complaints, Dr. Vogel recommended an intradiscal electrothermal therapy or IDET procedure. (Ex. 1) On the same day, Dr. Vogel assigned a five percent (5%) *increased* impairment rating to Claimant's body as a whole and imposed restrictions against Claimant's lifting more than thirty-five pounds or hyperextending the neck. (Ex. 1) Dr. Vogel's notes from that visit, however, neither causally related his findings and recommendations to the February 11, 1999 incident nor even referenced that incident. (Ex. 1) Instead, Dr. Vogel merely concluded that claimant "will have incurred" the increased impairment without identifying the precise cause of the increase. (Ex. 1)

On February 9, 2000, Dr. Vogel discharged Claimant to the care of his referring physician. (Ex. 1) Dr. Vogel examined Claimant on four additional occasions after January 11, 2000, reiterating each time the January 11th impressions and recommendations. (Ex. 1) On August 21, 2000, Dr. Vogel referred Claimant to Dr. Faeza Jones. (Ex. 6) This referral came over seven months after Dr. Vogel assessed an impairment rating. Dr. Vogel's referral from August 21, 2000 does not causally relate Claimant's need for psychiatric treatment to his February 11, 1999 incident. (Ex. 6) Significantly, Dr. Vogel did not specifically reference a February 11, 1999 incident until July 31, 2001, when he completed a Statement of Employee's Physician. (Ex. 3) Dr. Vogel did not complete this document until almost a year and a half after Claimant had filed his Petition to Controvert.

⁴Presumably Dr. Vogel had concluded that Claimant was at maximum medical improvement when he assigned this impairment rating. The Commission found that Dr. Vogel had so concluded.

⁵Dr. Vogel does not even mention this referral in his August 21, 2000 status letter to Employer/Self-Insured. (Ex. 1)

2. <u>Dr. Robert Smith Concluded That the Work Incident Merely Aggravated Temporarily Claimant's Pre-existing Condition and That No IDET or Surgical Procedures Were Warranted.</u>

Dr. Robert Smith, a neurosurgeon in Jackson, Mississippi, evaluated Claimant on May 2, 2000 at the request of Delphi. (Ex. 2) Dr. Smith noted that Claimant presented with "degenerative disc disease with folding of the ligament." (Ex. 2) Dr. Smith described Claimant as having a "[t]errible degenerative spine with bony changes L4-5 and L5-S1" as well as "some degenerative joints" in his cervical spine. (Ex. 1) Dr. Smith determined that Claimant was "not a candidate for intradiscal electrothermal treatment," stating that the IDET procedure is regarded "as experimental." (Ex. 2) Dr. Smith further opined that Claimant's degenerative disc problems would not respond to surgical treatment. (Ex. 2) In fact, he also saw no indications for the surgery that Dr. Vogel had performed on Claimant. (Ex. 2) Dr. Smith concluded that Claimant had reached maximum medical improvement and that he could perform light duty work. (Ex. 2) Dr. Smith also concluded that the February 11, 1999 incident was "a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing condition." (Ex. 2) As these records show, the Commission incorrectly asserted that Dr. Smith did not quantify the nature of Claimant's restrictions and impairments and that Dr. Smith did not indicate whether the same were causally related to the lumbar injury or the cervical injury or both. Dr. Smith did both, limiting Claimant to light duty work and concluding the effects of the February 1999 incident were only temporary.

3. <u>Dr. Faeza Jones Did Not Expressly Indicate That the Work Incident Caused Claimant's Alleged Psychological Problems.</u>

Dr. Vogel referred Claimant to Dr. Faeza Jones, a psychiatrist in Clinton, Mississippi, in August 2000, stating as follows: "P[atien]t referred to Dr. Faeza Jones for psych treatment/pain management." (Ex. 6) Claimant began treating with Dr. Jones on August 30, 2000, and he was

still treating with her at the time of the hearing on this matter on March 10, 2003. (Ex. 3; Ex. 10) Dr. Jones repeatedly diagnosed Claimant with "major depressive disorder, recurrent, severe with psychotic features." (Ex. 3; Ex. 10) Notes from her treatment of Claimant indicate that he was frequently anxious, paranoid, and irritable during this period. For example, on July 17, 2002, Dr. Jones noted that Claimant was "having some problems hearing voices at times." (Ex. 10) She also noted that Claimant "feels others are watching at times." (Ex. 10) On September 11, 2002, Dr. Jones noted that Claimant "has anxiety, problems sleeping, feels bugs crawling at night at times. He says he sees black things running around." (Ex. 10) Then, on November 6, 2002, Dr. Jones noted that "many times [Claimant] does feel like he hears things at times that other people do not hear." (Ex. 10)

In various statements specifically addressing the cause of Claimant's psychological problems, Dr. Jones did not causally relate her diagnosis to the lifting incident of February 11, 1999 or to any physical, work-related injury suffered by Claimant. (Ex. 10) Instead, Dr. Jones consistently stated that the psychological problems were secondary to chronic pain rather than to a specific accident or injury. For example, Dr. Jones completed an Allstate Insurance form on July 11, 2001 in which she indicated that Claimant's condition was *not* related to an accident but was instead due to chronic pain. (Ex. 3) In a November 6, 2002 letter sent to Roger K. Doolittle and addressed "To Whom It May Concern," Dr. Jones again stated that Claimant was "being treated for Major Depressive disorder, secondary to Chronic Pain Syndrome." (Ex. 10) In another letter addressed "To Whom It May Concern" on December 5, 2002, she opined that Claimant was "totally disable (100%)" and noted that "Mr. Brown has poor memory." (Ex. 10) However, neither of these letters indicated the February 11, 1999 incident resulted in Claimant's

chronic pain or his depression. In fact, Dr. Jones did not offer any opinion regarding the cause of Claimant's chronic pain.

4. <u>Dr. Robert McGuire Concluded That Claimant's Condition Resulted</u> from Degenerative Changes Rather Than from the Work Incident.

On February 12, 2001, Dr. Robert McGuire, an orthopaedic surgeon with University Orthopaedic Associates and professor of orthopaedic surgery in Jackson, Mississippi, performed an independent medical examination (IME) of Claimant at the request of the Administrative Judge.⁶ (Ex. 4 at 4-5) Based upon his examination of Claimant and review of medical records, Dr. McGuire determined Claimant "had some degenerative changes" in his cervical spine as well as "fairly significant degenerative changes" in his lumbar spine. (*Id.* at 12) Dr. McGuire opined the IDET procedure was not appropriate to treat Claimant's degenerative disc problems.⁷ (*Id.* at 13) Dr. McGuire also stated the February 11, 1999 incident described by Claimant was not likely either to have caused the severe degeneration of Claimant's discs or to have significantly contributed to an aggravation of the degenerative disc disease. *Id.*

Dr. McGuire, in contrast, found no connection between Claimant's complaints and the lifting accident of February 11, 1999; instead, he ascribed Claimant's problems to *degenerative* changes:

- Q. Was there anything in the examination that you found objectively, or from the MRI scan or other diagnostic studies that you reviewed, that you would find attributable to the February 11, 1999 injury?
- A. Looking specifically at the cervical, I did not find that. From the lumbar, again I didn't feel that the way he described it, that that had been a part of the initial

⁶In discounting this report, the Commission incorrectly stated that Dr. McGuire examined Claimant at the request of Employer Delphi. (Vol. 2 at 152)

⁷Interestingly, the Commission accepted the Opinion of Drs. Smith and McGuire regarding the inappropriateness of the IDET procedure.

injury, anyway. That just seemed, with his description, to come along as a secondary type of problem that just arose. So that would again be more of a degenerative. So I didn't feel like the low back symptoms were at all related to that particular incident.

(Ex. 4 at 17-18, emphasis added) Regarding the causal connection between Claimant's back condition and the work incident, Dr. McGuire specifically testified as follows:

Ordinarily when you have severe degenerative condition in your back, you are more apt with a minimum of activity, to be able to have worsening of that particular condition. Usually what happens is an individual will sustain either a twisting type or a sudden loading of the spine unexpected that has a tendency to trigger those particular episodes. That was not a description that he gave me. This was a controlled type lift up over. So that makes me think, that rather than a specific aggravation of the low back, that this is just a more of a degenerative—manifestation of the degenerative that was there.⁸

(Ex. 4 at 25-26) This testimony confirms Dr. McGuire's report, in which he opined that

the incident described by Mr. Brown is not likely to have caused this severe degeneration, nor is it likely that the description of such significantly contributed to its aggravation. I feel the problem with which Mr. Brown is presently complaining is that of a progressive degenerative nature of the problem that he has had for many years.

(Ex. 4. at report attached as Exhibit 3) As Dr. McGuire further explained in his deposition,

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