## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## **DELPHI PACKARD ELECTRIC SYSTEMS**

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2007-WC-00820

**EARNIL BROWN** 

APPELLEE

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

## **APPELLEE'S BRIEF TO THE SUPREME COURT**

Roger K. Doolittle Suite 500 460 Briarwood Drive Jackson, Mississippi 39206 (601) 957-9777

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## DELPHI PACKARD ELECTRIC SYSTEMS

## EMPLOYER AND SELF-INSURED/APPELLANT

V.

### EARNIL BROWN

#### **CLAIMANT/APPELLEE**

NO.2007-WC-00820

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

Whether the decision and findings of fact by the Mississippi Workers'
Compensation Commission are supported by substantial evidence and are not contrary to
the overwhelming weight of the evidence or clearly erroneous.

2. Whether the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission was correct as a matter of law in determining that Claimant had proven his claim for permanent partial disability and loss of wage earning capacity.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Mississippi Supreme Court on the appeal of the Employer/Appellant from the decision of the Circuit Court of Hinds County affirming the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission which found in favor of the Claimant.

## STATEMENT OF STIPULATIONS

At the hearing on the merits the parties stipulated that:

(1) The Claimant suffered compensable injuries to his cervical spine and to his lumbar spine on February 11, 1999; and,

(2) The Claimant's average weekly wage on February 11, 2003 was \$931.20.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### Testimony of Earnil Brown

The Appellee, Earnil Brown testified that he began work for the Appellant in 1973. (P 8, 1. 19) He worked continuously for the Appellant, missing time only for vacation and when he was in pain. (P 8, 1. 25-28)

Mr. Brown had first injured his neck several years ago. (P 10, 1. 25) He returned to work with the Appellant at the same or higher wages then before that injury. (P 10, 1. 24 to P 11, 1. 3) All of the jobs he held at the Appellant's place of business required manual labor and lifting. (P 11, 123 - 29)

On February 11, 1999, Appellee again injured his neck lifting a reel of terminals over his head. (P. 12, l. 20 - 23) Until the event of February 11, 1999, the Appellee was able to continue to perform the duties of his job. (P. 12, l. 28 to P. 12, l. 1) Between

February 11 and September 1, 1999, the Appellee missed some days with his back and neck. (P 14., l. 9 - 15) The Appellee finally ceased work on September 1, 1999.

Eventually, Appellee selected Dr. Kenneth Vogel as his choice of physician. (P. 14, 1. 11-23) Dr. Vogel told the Appellee that he needed surgery on his neck and the Appellant/Employer/Self-Insured paid for that surgery under workers' compensation. (P. 15, 1. 3 - 8) Dr. Vogel later told the Appellee that he needed surgery on his back and the Appellee asked the Appellant to pay for that. (P. 15, 1. 17 - 23) The Appellant/Employer/Self-Insured refused to pay for the back surgery.

Dr. Vogel referred the Appellee to Dr. Jones. (P. 15, l. 25-29) At the hearing the Appellee identified a list of medications that he was taking at the time of the hearing. (P 16. 15 - 22) Appellee testified that he continued to have back pain. (P. 17, l. 24-25) Appellee testified that he cannot perform any of the jobs he has performed in the past while working for the Appellant. (P. 17, l. 28 to P. 18, l. 1)

Before working for the Appellant, the Appellee had worked for Borden's Ice Cream. (P. 18, l. 2 - 4) Appellee loaded ice cream trucks manually, lifting from 30 to 50 pounds. (P. 18, l. 8- 16) He cannot do that now. (P. 18, l. 20)

Appellee asked Mr. Weakly (field supervisor of industrial relations for the Appellant) about a job. He was told he had too many injuries and too many accidents. (P. 19, l. 4-8) That the Appellant did not have anything for him to do. (P. 21, l. 10-11)

Appellee has not been able to work while following Dr. Jones instructions. (P. 21, 1. 17 to 24) Appellant takes medication for pain every day. (P. 21, 1. 25 - 27) Appellee wanted the Appellant to pay for Dr. Jones treatment of him. (P. 21, 1. 28 to P. 22, 1. 1)

At the time of the hearing Appellee was 51 years of age and had two years of college. (P. 23-29)

Since he left the Appellant's place of business, Appellee had not applied for a job anywhere else. (P. 33, 1. 7-10)

## Testimony of Jessie Adams

The Appellant called Jessie Adams to testify as to the exertion requirements of the Appellee's position with Appellant. After direct examination Mr. Adams testified that he had known the Appellee for years and that the Appellee was a pretty truthful man and he had never known him to lie or be dishonest. That the Appellee was a good and earnest worker. (P. 38, 1. 11-21)

## Testimony of Curtis Weakly

Mr. Weakly testified that he was the field supervisor of industrial relations. (P. 39, l. 15-18) He denied ever telling the Appellant that he could not return to work. (P. 40, l. 13-18) However, Mr. Weakly also testified that Appellant/Employer/Self-Insured has the Appellee classified as totally and permanently disabled from work. (P. 42, l 3) That the Appellant's workers' compensation department would be aware of his medical status and that the Appellant had never offered the Appellee a job. (P. 42, l. 7 to P. 43, l. 8)

## Testimony of Dr. K. E. Vogel

Dr. Vogel testified through certified copies of his medical records. At page 7 of exhibit G, Dr. Vogel stated that the Appellee had suffered a 5% impairment to the body as a whole and had permanent restrictions to avoid those activities which required him to lift, push or pull greater then 35 pounds or bend repeatedly, flex or hyper-extend the neck. Also, in a "Statement of Employee's Physician" form, completed by Dr. Vogel, and found at page 19 of Exhibit G 3, Dr. Vogel gives a history of Appellee suffering "L S 1 leg" pain since a work injury of 2/99. In said "Statement of Employee's Physician" form, Dr. Vogel also writes that the cause of the Appellee's problems are a work injury and that he proposes treatment by a LS (lumbosacral) IDET procedure.

## Testimony of Dr. Robert Smith

Dr. Smith testified through certified copies of his medical records. In a four line letter Dr. Smith stated that the Appellee was released to light duty work and that he felt that the Appellee had a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing condition. However, the short letter (1) referred to a previous dictation which has never been produced and (2) did not state to which of the Appellee's injuries, neck or back, that this opinion applied . Unfortunately, Dr. Smith died before this opinion could be clarified as to which of the Appellee's injuries he was referring, the neck or the back. This is important as the other of Appellant's expert gave differing opinions as to the causal connection of the neck and back.

### Testimony of Dr. Faeza Jones

Dr. Jones testified through certified copies of her medical records. Dr. Jones is a clinical psychiatrist. Dr. Jones was of the opinion that the Appellee was suffering a major depressive disorder, with psychotic features. In a November 6, 2002 letter, sent to Roger K. Doolittle, Dr. Jones specifically stated that the Claimant was being treated for a Major Depressive disorder, second to Chronic Pain Syndrome. On December 5, 2002, in her records under Commission affidavit and admitted as Exhibit CL-10 Dr. Jones opined:

Mr. Earnil Brown is being treated for Major Depressive disorder, secondary to Chronic Pain Syndrome. He remains on medication and is receiving Psychotherapy. He is totally disable (100%) to perform any type of work. He is not able to return to work or other normal activity. He has received his maximum recovery potential.

#### Testimony of Dr. Robert McGuire

Dr. McGuire testified through certified copies of his medical records and a deposition. He felt that the Appellee's injury did not significantly contribute to his back condition. He did limit the Claimant to lifting no more then 15 - 20 pounds and gave an

impairment of 10% to the body as the whole. Dr. McGuire in his deposition at (P. 18, lines 20 to Page 19, line 16) broke his rating down to 5% for the neck and 5% for the back. And while Dr. McGuire testified that while he did not think the lifting injury of February 1999, contributed to the permanent disability to the back, he did think that the on the job lifting injury of 1999, contributed by aggravation to the impairment of the neck. In fact, Dr. McGuire specifically testified that the lifting injury of February 1999 aggravated the Appellee's neck. (P. 23, 1. 24-25) Dr. McGuire also testified at the end of his deposition that the Appellee should remain under the care of his long-term, treating physician, Dr. Vogel.

### Testimony of Dr. Mark Webb

Dr. Webb's opinion was despite the fact that Appellee had worked for over 20 years for the Appellant and had no prior psychiatric problems until his on the job injury, that the on the job injury had nothing to do with his depression. Further, that the current depression was the result of long term personality traits which did not exert themselves during the 20 years which the Appellee worked for the Appellant. That if was not the injury it would have been something else.

#### STATEMENT OF LAW

#### STANDARD ON REVIEW

Under Mississippi law, the Workers' Compensation Commission is the ultimate finder of facts in compensation cases, and as such, its findings are subject to normal, deferential standards upon review. The ALJ is not the ultimate finder of fact, but rather "the individual who conducts the hearing and hears the live testimony, such as it is." *Walker Mfg. Co. v. Cantrell*, 577 So. 2d 1243, 1245-47 (Miss. 1991). The Commission is free to accept or reject the ALJ's findings, so long as the Commission's actions are based

on substantial evidence. *Day-Brite Lighting v. Cummings*, 419 So. 2d 211, 213 (Miss. 1982). Appellate courts are bound by the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, if the Commission's findings of fact and order are supported by substantial evidence. *Day-Brite Lighting v. Cummings*, 419 So. 2d 211, 213 (Miss. 1982). This is so, even though the evidence could convince the appellate Court otherwise, were it the fact finder. The Commission serves as the ultimate fact finder in addressing conflicts in medical testimony and opinion. It is only in rather extraordinary cases that an appellate court should reverse the findings of the Commission.

The "substantial evidence" scope of judicial review of administrative agency decisions is that the courts may interfere only where the agency action is arbitrary and capricious. Arbitrariness and caprice are in substantial part a function of the presence *vel non* of credible evidence supporting the agency decision. Where there is substantial evidence, a reviewing court has no authority to interfere with the decision of the Commission. *Walker Mfg. Co. v. Cantrell*, 577 So. 2d 1243, 1245-47 (Miss. 1991).

It is the sole responsibility of the Commission to determine the credibility of the witnesses before it and, when conflicts in credible evidence arise, to determine where the preponderance of the evidence lies. The Court must affirm its decision so long as it is supported by substantial evidence. *Richardson v. Johnson Elect. Auto.*, 2006-WC-01598-COA (Miss.App. 8-7-2007) (page number not yet available)

The standard of review in workers' compensation cases is limited and deferential: The *substantial evidence test* is used. See *Walker Mfg. Co. v. Cantrell*, 577 So. 2d 1243, 1245-47, (Miss. 1991). The Workers' Compensation Commission is the trier and finder of facts in a compensation claim. This Court will overturn the Workers' Compensation Commission decision only for an error of law or an unsupported finding of fact. *Georgia Pac. Corp. v. Taplin*, 586 S. 2d 823, 826, (Miss. 1991). Reversal is proper only when a

Commission order is not based on substantial evidence, is *arbitrary or capricious, or is based on an erroneous application of the law*. *Smith v. Jackson Constr. Co.*, 607 So. 2d 1119,1124, (Miss. 1992). *Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc.*, 853 S2. 2d 776, 778, (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added). In *Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr.*, 687 So. 2d 1221, 1224-25, (Miss. 1997), the Court stated: The function of an appellate court in an appeal from rulings of the Workers' Compensation Commission is to determine whether there exists a quantum of credible evidence which supports the decision of the Commission. It is not the role of the appellate courts to determine where the preponderance of the evidence lies when the evidence is conflicting, given that it is presumed that the Commission, as trier of fact, has previously determined which evidence is credible and which is not. *Metal Trims Industries, Inc. v. Stovall*, 562 So. 2d 1293 (Miss. 1990). *Total Transportation Inc. v. Shores*, 2005-CT-01951-SCT (Miss. 9-20-2007) at page 6.

## CAUSATION

The test under the Act is whether a work-related injury caused or significantly contributed to, aggravated or accelerated a pre-existing condition. A doctor's inability to pinpoint the exact physical cause of an employee's disability did not alone defeat the employee's claim for compensation, given the beneficent purpose of the Workers' Compensation Act, where there was uncontradicted testimony that the employee was injured while performing his job. *Trest v. B. C. Rogers Processors, Inc.* 592 So. 2d 110, 113 (Miss. 1991) Certainty is not a requisite in deciding a workers' compensation case, but, rather the reviewing court considers reasonable medical probabilities. In other words, medical findings sufficient to show a compensable disability are not required to be precise, complete and unequivocal. *Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Gregory*, 589 So. 2d 1250, 1254 (Miss. 1991)

#### PAIN

Compensation may be allowed for disabling pain in the absence of positive medical testimony as to any physical cause whatever. When the patient complains of pain, the doctor usually takes the fact of pain for granted and the absence of physical findings to account for the pain will not necessarily bar compensation. In such cases, evidence of an accident followed by disabling pain and the absence of evidence as to the cause of the pain from objective medical findings may be sufficient as a basis for compensation, in the absence of circumstances tending to show malingering or indicating that the claimant's testimony as to pain is inherently improbable, incredible, unreasonable or untrustworthy. *Morris v. Lansdell's Frame* Co., 547 So. 2d 782, 785 (Miss. 1989). *See also* Imperial Palace Casino v. Wilson, 960 So.2d 549, 555. (Miss.App. 2006).

## CLAIMANT'S OPINION

Any witness including the Claimant, who has evidentiary facts within his personal knowledge, gained through any of his senses, is competent to testify. A nonprofessional witness may describe personal injuries. Physical pain, weakness, exhaustion and the like are matters one may testify about. Such a non-expert witness may testify as to his own health or physical condition and objective physical symptoms and may state simple inferences drawn by him from his own subjective sensation as to his physical condition, such that he became ill or had been troubled with nervousness, was under the influence of drugs or had a bad cold. One sustaining a back injury has been allowed to testify that pain was suffered as a result of the injury and that the resulting condition prevented work activity. *Mississippi Workers' Compensation, Dunn, Third Edition, Paragraph 278.* Indeed, mere estimates of the medical or functional loss may have little value when compared with lay testimony by the claimant that he suffers pain when attempting use of the member and that he has tried to work and is unable to perform the usual duties of his

customary employment. Herman McGowan v, New Orleans Furniture, Inc. 586 So. 2d 163, 166 (1991).

#### JORDAN/THOMPSON PRESUMPTION

Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-3(i), when there is a finding of permanent partial disability, the claimant bears the burden of making a prima facie showing that he has sought and been unable to find work in the same or other employment. The presumption arises where a claimant with a permanent injury is not offered work by the former employer and then proves reasonable efforts to obtain work from other available employers. *Thompson v. Wells-Lamont Corp.*, 362 So.2d 638, 640 (Miss. 1978). *Jordan v. Hercules, Inc.*, 600 So.2d 179, 183 (Miss. 1992); *Pontotoc Wire Products Co. v. Ferguson*, 384 So.2d 601, 603 (Miss. 1980). *Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Center* 687 So.2d 1221 (Miss. 1997) *Entergy Mississippi, Inc. v. Robinson*, 777 So.2d 53, 56 (Miss.Ct.App. 2000). Once the Claimant proves these factors then the presumption arises that the Claimant is permanently and totally disabled and the burden shifts to the Employer and Carrier to prove the availability of employment suitable to the Claimant's impaired condition within the Claimant's locale.

### JOB SEARCH

Proof of a job search is not always necessary where there is an admittedly compensable injury and one's injury results in a significant limitation of one's ability to perform one's job. *University Of Ms. Medical Center v. Rainey*, 926 So.2d 938, 940 (Miss.App. 2006)

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